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TUNKU ABDUL RAHMAN — CHIN PENG
AMNESTY TALKS AND BRITISH RESPONSE

Nik Anuar Nik Mahmud

On being elected as the new President of UMNO in 1951, Tunku
Abdul Rahman announced to his supporters his determination to
achieve very early self-government in Malaya. However, the Tunku
believed that so long as the Communist terrorism remained
undefeated, the British Government would not grant self-
government to Malaya.' The Tunku’s interpretation was based on
Her Majesty’s Government directive to Sir Gerald Templer, on his
appointment as the new High Commissioner for Malaya in 1951,
which stated that ‘“Her Majesty’s Government would not lay aside
the responsibility in Malaya until they are satisfied that Communist
terrorism has been defeated’’.? The termination of the Emergency
was first priority on the Alliance’s platform, and it wished to try
every means possible of achieving it.

It was to that end that, in early January 1955, the Tunku made
a dramatic call for the granting of an amnesty to the Communists
as part of a deal to bring to an end a state of emergency in
Malaya.? The Tunku’s proposal envisaged that, since a more truly
national form of government was about to be introduced into the
Federation, the Communists could no longer assert that they were
fighting against British imperialism and would be ready to give up
the struggle. His proposal contemplated the granting of amnesty
and the stepping-up of the campaign against the Communists if the
amnesty was rejected. Dato’ Sir Tan Cheng-Lock, President of the
Malayan Chinese Association (M.C.A.), echoed at once the Tunku’s
sentiment, and even went further by publicly volunteering to go into
the jungle to negotiate with the Communists.*

Public reaction to the Tunku’s proposal was favourable for it
held at the hope that it would lead to an end of militant communism
and relieve the country of the heavy financial commitment in wag-
ing the emergency campaigns. Moreover, its coincidence with the
amnesty offered to the Mau Mau terrorists in Kenya, which was
announced some weeks earlier, stimulated public interest about the
prospects of a similar amnesty in Malaya.
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On 12 January 1955, a meeting of the UMNO/MCA Alliance
was held at Malacca to discuss the Tunku’s amnesty proposal.’
The meeting decided ‘‘to ask the Federation Government to offer
amnesty terms to Communist terrorists’’. The Committee decision
was that ‘‘terrorists accepting the amnesty should be sent back to
China or be rehabilitated and allowed to remain to be good citizens”’.

The Tunku’s proposal was looked with askance by the Malayan
authorities. The authorities did not believe that, under circumstances
obtaining in January 1955, the offer of an amnesty would be likely
to bring in more surrenders than their current policy of encourag-
ing the terrorists to surrender individually on the understanding that
they would be fairly and humanely treated.®

There was also the major difficulty that any amnesty offer
would have at some stage to be given a definite term. In addition
there was fear that the ending of the amnesty period would result
in a decline in the then flow of surrenders until confidence was again
built up in the treatment of surrendered Communists under normal
conditions.

In a telegram to the Secretary of State for the Colonies, the
High Commissioner, Sir Donald MacGillivray, noted that:

This would be unfortunate, particularly as we see nothing in present situation which

would support the belief that an offer of amnesty at this juncture would be likely
to be successful.’

In connection with the amnesty proposal, Tunku Abdul Rahman
met the Director of Operatlons, Lt. General Sir Geoffrey Bourne
on 11 January 1955.% The Tunku stated his objective in making his
suggestion was not so much that the Malayan Communist Party
(M.C.P.) would accept an offer of amnesty but to convince the
people of Malaya that everything possible was being done. After
elections he could impose a greater degree of mobilisation than was
possible under the present Government. He fully realised that any
direct negotiation with the Communists was out of the question.
He stressed that it would not be acceptable for the Communists Party
to be allowed to operate legally.

The proposal was further discussed on January 17 by the Direc-
tor of Operations Committee, which comprised not only the Director
of Operations and his Service Advisers, but a number of the political
leaders. The Alhance was represented by Tunku Abdul Rahman
and H.S. Lee.” The Tunku was asked by the Committee to clarify
his amnesty proposal and the eight-point arrangements for an amnes-
ty as proposed by the UMNO-MCA Alliance meeting at Malacca.
After the discussion , it was appreciated by the Tunku and H.S. Lee
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that an amnesty was not like an armistice, something to be negotiated
with the Communists’ leaders, but was a standing offer of pardon
to each individual terrorist. It was also agreed that the amnesty
question should not become a party matter.

Further publicity about the amnesty was also considered to be
undesirable as it would adversely affect the conduct of the cam-
paign to encourage the Communists to surrender to the government.
Furthermore, the Communist leaders themselves, in their clandestine
news-letter, condemned the Alliance’s proposal as a British intri-
que, designed to cause dissenssion in the Malayan Communist Party
and to isolate it from public support. The Tunku consented to drop
the proposal. Both accordingly welcomed a suggestion that a work-
ing party should be set up to examine all the implications of an
amnesty. The findings were to be recorded for the information of
the Director of Operations Committee. The composition of the
working party was to be as follows: the principal Staff Officer to
the Director of Operations, Secretary for Defence, a representative
of the Attorney-General, Tunku Abdul Rahman, H.S. Lee of
Malayan Chinese Association and V.M. Menon of Partai Negara.
After the meeting, the following press release was issued:

The question of an amnesty was very fully discussed in every respect at the Direc-
tor of Operations Committee today. It was unanimously agreed that a general
amnesty should not be offered, but that the present surrender policy, which
embodies a very considerable measure of amnesty should continue, and increased
efforts should be exerted to bring it to the notice of the rank and file of the
terrorists, so that more may be induced to follow the lead of the 1,500 who have
already surrendered. It was also agreed that the matter should be kept constantly
under review so that policy can be modified if it should appear at any time that

break up of the terrorist organization could be hastened by a greater or lesser
measure of amnesty.'?

The rejection by the Federal Government of the Alliance’s proposal
for an amnesty was strongly supported by the Manchester Guar-
dian, a pro-British newspaper. Manchester Guardian, in its editorial,
commented that an amnesty was appropriate where rebels had lost the
desire to continue the struggle with a Government, and in return for an act
of oblivion, were willing to become again law-abiding citizen. However,
this was not the case in Malaya. The active members of the Malayan
Communist Party accepted the amnesty only if they felt that afterwards
they would be on a stronger position and not a weaker one for their
struggle with the goverment. The form of amnesty which was proposed
by the alliance seemed to envisage that the Communist would maintain
their party organisation intact and would turn their acts of guerilla welfare
to electioneering in a constitutional way.!!
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The Tunku, however, was not giving way lightly to the shelv-
ing of the proposal he put forward in January for granting an
amnesty to the Communist terrorists. The Alliance restated its views
on the question of an amnesty in the case of its Election Manifesto
issues in May, 1955. The Manifesto contained an undertaking to
offer a general amnesty to the Communists in the following terms:

...To end the Emergency as soon as possible by offering a general amnesty and,
if that fails, to mobilise all our resources and seek all fc}reign aid to increase the
vigour and intensify of the fight against the terrorists.

THE COMMUNISTS’ NEGOTIATION OFFER

A month before the election, with the country increasingly gripped
with the political fever, the Malayan Communist Party took
the initiative by putting forward a counter-offer to enter into negotia-
tions for the termination of hostilities. The offer was contained in
a letter written in Chinese, copies of which were sent to a number
of leading personalities and organisations in the Federation of
Malaya and in Singapore. The letter was signed by a representative
of the " Malayan Races' Liberation Army" and dated the 1st May,
and had been posted at Haadyai in Southern Thailand.'’ None of
those letter was sent direct to the High Commissioner or to any of
his officers. It asked for safe conduct to enable representatives of
the Headquarters of the Communist terrorists to come out to
negotiate both a ceasefire and the participation of the Communist
Party in the future development of the country. The letter, however,
rejected the Alliance’s amnesty offer.

The imminence of the Federal elections no doubt explained why
the M.C.P. decided to chose to make their offer at that particular
time. Furthermore, the offer was consistent with the then interna-
tional Communist policy of turning from armed attack, or the threat
of armed attack, to expansion by political means.'* At the second
conference of the Communist and Workers’ Parties of the British
Commonwealth held in London in April 1954 a report entitled
Malaya Fights for Freedom had been submitted by the exiled Lim
Hong Bee that favoured, among other things, a provisional coali-
tion People’s government formed by all patriotic parties to achieve
full national independence.'” In August 1954 a Malayan delegate
to the Council of World Democratic Youth in Peking was quoted
as saying that ‘‘they are willing to undertake peace talks to bring
the Malayan war to an end...”’'® By November 1954 a guerilla
sheet produced in the Kedah/Penang area carried this report together
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with approval of the Geneva Conference on Indochina as an ex-
ample of ‘““how disputes can be solved justly by peaceful means’’.
The British in Malaya were specifically urged to follow the French
example in Indochina.

The M.C.P.’s proposal was discussed both by the Executive
Council and the Director of Operations Committee. At this meeting,
which was attended by Tunku Abdul Rahman and the other leaders,
an unanimous decision was made to reject the M.C.P.’s proposal. In
a statement issued by the Federation Government on 24 June 1955,
the Government made it clear that the present surrender terms were
a real and continuing measure of amnesty and made adequate pro-
visions for those fighting in the jungle to come out if they wished
to end the struggle.'” The Government believed that the "terrorist
leaders" in Malaya had special reasons for wishing to call off the
shooting war. It was thought that the Communists leaders realised
that they slowly and steadily being defeated by the Security Forces
and wished to concentrate their main efforts on subversion. For that
purpose it was essential to them that the trained cadres should emerge
from the jungle and organise subversive activities in the towns. The
proposal for amnesty talks put forward by the Alliance in January
was unacceptable to the Communist leaders because it did not seem
likely to allow them to roam at will in the Federation, but would
be faced with the alternative either a long period of detention or
of deportation to China. Hence their thoughts appear to have turned
to ways and means of calling off the armed struggle and at the same
time retaining their liberty of action.

Reactions to this refusal by the Government were very varied.
The rejection was supported by the Alliance and Party Negara. The
Labour Party of Malaya, however, expressed the view that the re-
jection was over-hasty and that the offer should have been more
fully examined. Of the Chinese newspapers, only the Nanyang Siang
Pau had questioned the wisdom of Government’s rejection. This
paper argued that the offer was worthy of closer attention than it
had received and that nothing could have been lost by meeting the
Communists round a table to test their sincerity. ® The other
Chinese newspapers, particularly those with KMT or Chinese Na-
tionalist background, strongly supported the Government’s rejec-
tion and described the peace offer as a manoeuvre to bring about

the relaxation of military pressure which would facilitate the
infiltration.
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AMNESTY OFFER

Having rejected the Communist’s proposal, the Director of Opera-
tions Committee thought that it was necessary to take a positive
step to show that the government was doing everything in its power
to end the emergency. The Committee discussed the matter at a series
of meetings held i In June and July decided to offer an amnesty to
the Communists.'” The Committee was of the opinion that such an
offer would be a timely counter-move by the Federation Govern-
ment to offset the propaganda value of the Communists’ negotia-
tion proposals and to convince neutral opinion that the Govern-
ment was not seeking to prolong the shooting war but were prepared
to make a positive proposal to end it. Even if the hard core of the
leaders would not respond, large numbers of the rank-and-file might
take advantage of a formal offer of amnesty to give themselves up
and escape from the privations of jungle life thus causing a split
between the leaders and the rank-and-file. An all-out campaign such
as by leaflets and loudspeakers aircraft was thought to be necessary to
bring the offer to the attention of the terrorists.

The Committee also took into consideration the declaration
made by the Alliance in their Election Manifesto that if they were
successful at the Elections they would declare an amnesty. Since
the expectations were that the Alliance would be the major party,
it was clearly prudent that some thoughts should be given in advance
to the ways to which an amnesty offer might be made. If the Govern-
ment opposed the granting of an amnesty it would play into the
hands of the Communists for propaganda purposes.

The only objection to granting an amnesty, according to the
Committee, was that it would presumbably have to be limited in
time and that when the time limit had expired the remaining ter-
rorists would feel that the continuous surrender policy hitherto
followed by the Government was terminated. It was therefore like-
ly that following the termination of any period of amnesty there
would be a drop in surrenders until confidence could be built up
again.

The Director of Operations Committee concluded, however,
that the advantages of offering an amnesty outweighted the possi-
ble risks and difficulties, and they considered that the offer would
carry particular weight if it were made by the new Government soon
after the elections.

To that end, the Committee began to draft the wording of the
amnesty terms. Malcolm MacDonald, the British Commissioner-
General for Southeast Asia, suggested that the terms should be
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designed to appeal to the rank-and-file terrorists who, not being
Communists of the hardcore, had been intimidated by the Com-
munists into taking up arms and having done so, had been forced
to stay in the jungle.” Though those who surrender would not be
prosecuted they would be required to demonstrate their loyalty to
the Government before they would be allowed to return to their
families. It involved neither negotiation with the Communists nor
recognition of the Malayan Communist Party.

The British Defence Committee of the Cabinet was also involv-
ed in the drafting of the terms. The Defence Committee considered
that the point to be stressed was that Communists who surrendered
would not be shot but that no hope should be held out that they
would escape detention. 2l Furthermore, it added that, it was essen-
tial that the hard core Communists should be detained for some
time because if they were released they would cause further trou-
ble in Malaya and if they were deported they would cause trouble
in Southeast Asia. They thought that the amnesty terms should not
include any reference to the possibility of helping a Communist who
surrender to leave the country. It was suggested that no time limit
should be inserted in the offer.

When the Federal Elections took place on the 27 July 1955,
the UMNO-MCA-MIC Alliance won 51 out of the 52 elected seats
in the Legislative Council.? The High Commissioner for the
Federation of Malaya, Sir Donald MacGillivray, appointed Tunku
Abdul Rahman as Chief Minister in the Executive Council and
accepted the recommendations put forward by Tunku Abdul
Rahman for alloting the various portfolios in the Executive Council
to other members and supporters of the Alliance. The Director of
Operations Committee had also been reconstituted so that its civilian
representatives were drawn solely from the Alliance, as the govern-
ment party. Thus the Federation Government was now in a
position to take a final decision on the question of the terms and
timing of the amnesty offer.

In his first public statement, the Tunku promised that his first
priority would be "a swift ending" to the war and that he would
offer an amnesty at the right time and with the advice of the
experts.”

The Singapore Government also endorsed the Tunku’s deci-’
sion to offer an amnesty to the Communists on the ground that,.
if it was successful, it would be an important step toward ending
the emergency in Malaya and restoring conditions of economic

prosperity in which advance in self-government and social welfare
should be made.*
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Further discussion was later held at the Director of Operations
Committee on the terms of the amnesty. Tunku Abdul Rahman
proposed to make the amnesty offer as attractive as possible and
recommended that the Committee should not make specific men-
tion of the word "detentlon as suggested by the British Cabinet
Defence Committee.” The Tunku feared that the use of the word
"detention" would be taken to mean detention in a detention camp
and thus would adversely affect the rate of surrenders by rank and
file Communists. Subsequently, it was agreed that the word ‘‘in-
vestigation’’ would be used instead of the world ‘‘detention’’.?¢

On September 8, 1955 the Government of the Federation
of Malaya issued a declaratlon of amnesty to the Communist
terrorists.”’” The Government of Singapore issued an identical
offer at the same time. Tunku Abdul Rahman, as Chief Minister,
now made good the offer of an amnesty but promised there would
be no negotiations with the M.C.P. The terms of the amnesty were

as follows:

1. Those of you who come in and surrender will not be prosecuted for any
offence connected with the Emergency, which you have committed under Com-
munist direction, either before this date or in ignorance of this declaration.

2. You may surrender now and to whom you like including to members
of the public.

3. There will no general ‘cease fire’ but the security forces will be on alert

to help those who wish to accept this offer and for this purpose local ‘cease fire’
will be arranged.

4. The Government will conduct investigations on those who surrender.
Those who show that they genuinely intend to be loyal to the Government of
Malaya and to give up their Communist activities will be helped to regain their
normal position in society and be re-united with their families. As regards the
remainder, restrictions will have to be placed on their liberty but if any of them
wish to go to China their request will be given due consideration.?

Following the declaration, an iritensive publicity campaign on
a hitherto unprecendented scale was launched by the Government.
Alliance Ministers in the Federal Government travelled extensively
up and down the country exhorting the people to call upon the Com-
munists to lay down their arms and take advantage of the amnesty.
The response from the public was good. Public demonstrations and
processions were held in towns and villages.

Despite the campaign, the number of the Communists who
surrendered to the authorities was poor. It was evident that the
terrorists, having had ample warning of its declaration, conducted
intensive anti-amnesty propaganda in their ranks and among the
mass organisations, tightened discipline and warned that defec-
tion would be severely punished. Thus, it was not surprising that
there was less confidence that the amnesty by itself would bring to
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an end to the emergency. Some critics in political circles condemn-
ed the amnesty ‘‘as being too restrictive and little more than a restate-
ment of the surrender terms which have been in force for long
period’’.?® These critics were advocating for more realistic and
liberal approach of direct negotiations with the M.C.P. to work out
a settlement of the issue. Leading officials of the Labour Party had
gone further by not excluding the possibility, as part of the settle-
ment, of recognition of the M.C.P. as a political organisation. Within
the Alliance itself, there were influential elements both in the M.C.A.
and the UMNO which were becoming increasingly impatient and
were endeavouring to persuade the Chief Minister, Tunku Abdul
Rahman, that, in spite of all his protestations and the inherent
dangers, negotiation with the M.C.P. would produce quick results
and thereby smoothen the path to independence.

M.C.P.’S RENEWED OFFER FOR NEGOTIATIONS

The amnesty took a new turn with a renewed offer by the Malayan
Communist Party Secretary-General, Chin Peng, to negotiate with
the Chief Minister Tunku Abdul Rahman.’® Tunku Abdul
Rahman, Sir Tan Cheng-Lock and others received by post on 24
September 1955 a cyclostyled letter, in Chinese, purporting to come
from Central Committee of Malayan Communist Party, posted at
Klian Intan, Perak.

The letter criticised the Alliance Government’s amnesty offer
as being "not reasonable and impracticable" and proposing for an
immediate negotiations to be conducted directly between the two
parties engaged in the fighting to "achieve a cease fire and to solve
the question of repealing the Emergency Regulations and of achiev-
ing independence by a peaceful means". For that reason, the writer
promise to send their representatives to the UMNO-MCA-MIC
Alliance Headquarters in Kuala Lumpur to discuss "details for a
meeting to be held between Tunku Abdul Rahman and Sir Tan
Cheng-Lock with comrade Chin Peng".

On receiving the letter, the Tunku met immediately with the
High Commissioner, Sir Donald MacGillivray. During their discus-
sion, the Tunku regarded it as essential that he should reiterate his
willingnéss to meet with Chin Peng, and the intention would mere-
ly to clarify the amnesty terms.”” If not, the Tunku argued, the
sincerity of his efforts to end the Emergency and bring peace might
well have been called in question. The Tunku agreed that a general
ceasefire would be contemplated only if it became apparent that
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the M.C.P. would surrender under the terms of declaration of
amnesty.

While acceeding to the Tunku’s request, MacGillivray asked
the Tunku to issue an immediate press statement of its reactions
to the M.C.P.s offer to negotiate, since press and public comment
upon it was building up and silence might have been interpreted
in some quarters as meaning that serious consideration was being
given by the Federation Government to acceptance of it. The state-
ment, he believed, did not in any way affect the terms of their
declaration of amnesty. However, by implication, it rejected renewed
offer to negotiate with the Communists.

On September 30, the Tunku made an announcement that he
had agreed to meet Chin Peng but only "to clarify to him the
recent declaration of amnesty" ** He would be accompanied by
Tan Cheng-Lock. An official who was known to Chin Peng would
be nominated as conducting officer to meet Chin Peng at a
rendezvous in a safe area in which a local ceasefire would be arranged.
If Chin Peng wished to attend such a meeting he was to write private-
ly to Tunku Abdul Rahman, naming the rendezvous, the time and the date

for meeting. The Conducting Officer would bring him to the meeting
place.

On October 1, when the Tunku was visiting Singapore for
discussion with David Marshall, the Chief Minister of Singapore,
a press conference took place at which the Tunku, when asked
whether he would be going alone with Tan Cheng-Lock to meet
Chin Peng, said that he would like David Marshall to come and
would be inviting him. David Marshall, when questioned, explain-
ed that the invitation had gone from the Communists to the Federa-
tion Ministers only, but that if the Communists invited him to at-
tend, in view of Singapore’s common interest in the problem, he
would accept the Tunku’s suggestion that he should accompany
him.” Probably in response to the Tunku’s press conference that
Chin Peng, on October 4, wrote to David Marshall saying that he
would welcome Marshall’s presence at the meeting.

Meanwhile, on October 2, Chin Peng wrote to the Tunku
suggesting that his liaison officers should meet in North Malaya
to exchange on the arrangements for the meeting.

The first encounter between the liaison officers took place on
October 17 at Klian Intan in North Perak to arrange details of the
meeting between Chin Peng and the Chief Ministers. The Federa-
tion Government was represented by I.S. Wylie, the Deputy Com-
missioner of Police, and Too Joon Hing, the Assistant Minister for
Education, and Chin Peng was represented by Chen Tian, the head
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of the M.C.P.'s Central Propaganda Department. ** Chen Tian stated
that the Communists proposed that the meeting with Tunku
Abdul Rahman should last from two to three weeks and that they
expected that the meeting zone would be cleared of Security Forces.
Wylie replied that the meeting would not last longer than 48 hours,
with a possible extension by 24 hours, and that the Security Forces
would not be withdrawn but would be confined to base.

CLARIFICATION OR NEGOTIATIONS?

On 19 October 1955, a meeting was held at the Government House
in Singapore to discuss the proposed meeting between the Tunku
and Chin Peng, the Secretary-General of the Malayan Communist
Party.*® This meeting was attended by Sir Robert Scott, Mac-
Gillivray, Tunku Abdul Rahman, Marshall and Sir R. Black, the
Governor of Singapore. During the meeting, Marshall expressed
his concern about the outcome of a meeting with Chin Peng. He
feared that the meeting would develop into negotiations during which
demands would be made by Chin Peng and concessions in some
form would be inevitable. He was certain that Chin Peng would
demand an immediate ceasefire and the immediate release of all
his supporters who were in detention or who might give themselves
to under the terms of the amnesty and he would probably call for
the repeal of the Emergency Regulations in the Federation and the
new security legislation in Singapore and independence in the near
future for Malaya. Marshall stressed that the immediate release of
all persons in detention would bring serious consequences to
Singapore because it would greatly reinforce Communist subver-
sive operations. Marshall maintained that, as peoples’ elected
representative associated with the special purpose of the amnesty
offer, he might be compelled to make the concession. In the alter-
native he might be compelled to resign. Marshall pressed for

clarification of policy in the face of the grave possibilities if there
were any negotiations at all.

The Tunku appeared firmly wedded to the idea that negotiations
were inevitable. He stated that he would not go to meet Chin Peng
merely to clarify the terms of the amnesty. He must be able to listen
to Chin Peng, to discuss his proposals and then to bring them back
to the High Commissioner with his own recommendation as to
whether they should or should not be adopted.’® The five requests
which he expected Chin Peng to make were:
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1) Recognition of the Malayan Communist Party.

2) An assurance that those surrendering would not be deported.

3) An assurance that those surrendering would be allowed to
play a part in the political life of the country and would not be de-
tained for more than a very short period.

4) The release of detainees.

5) The repeal of the Emergency Regulations.

The Tunku said that he would reject straightaway the demand
for the recognition of the Malayan Communist Party but that he
was prepared to discuss the other demands. He recognised that he
would not have the authority to agree to anything at the meeting.
After hearing what Chin Peng had to say and after discussion on
those points with him he would refer them to the High Com-
missioner as to whether it should or not be adopted.

MacGillivray emphasised that the Tunku's meeting with Chin
Peng was agreed to only on the understanding that it was for the
purpose of clarification of the terms of the amnesty and that there
would be no negotiations. To this, the Tunku replied that the public
realised that the amnesty itself would not bring an end to the
emergency and were looking to the meeting to do so. The Tunku
pointed out that there was growing public opinion in favour of
negotiation and because of that he could not go to the meeting if
he were authorised merely to explain the terms of the amnesty.

The Tunku also reminded the High Commissioner that a strong
Alliance Government offered the best hope of keeping Communist
subversion under control. But that the Government would not re-
main strong if it could not show that it was making progress towards
independence. The Government would also not remain strong if
he himself lost his position and had to give way to extremists within
UMNO. He would also lose his position if his enemies succeeded
in branding him as a"Colonial stooge". Therefore, at the meeting with
Chin Peng, it was important that he appeared that he not be acting
entirely on the instructions of the British official with him at the
talks. Another reason why the Tunku was against having a British
official with him was his fear that it would tend to raise the level
of the meeting to "negotiations". It would also give the Chin Peng
too much "face".

During his discussion with Lord Reading, Chairman of the
Colonial Party Committee of the Colonial Office, who was in
Singapore after attending the Bandung Conference, the Tunku made
it clear that he had every intention of using every means in his power
to bring the emergency to an end. The Tunku insisted that he had
pledged himself in the election-campaign to do so and that, if he
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failed, he would at once became discredited. On the other hand,
success would give the best and probably the only chance of creating
a united country. Lord Reading suggested that he had only just been
elected with a substantial majority and that it seemed early days
to talk of being overthrown. But the Tunku insisted that his posi-
tion would be fatally undermined by delay. Time was vital, argued
the Tunku. People were watching closely to see whether or not he
was able to redeem his pledge. His final opinion was that a military
solution was no longer possible. He pointed out that the Com-
munists, some 3,000 strong, were comfortably established in villages
on the Siamese border, which they were free to cross and recross
at will. Their presence increased the prosperity of the villages and
was, therefore, welcome. These hide-outs were so remote and in-
accessible that they could never be reached by troops. The only way
to terminate the emergency was, therefore, negotiations. It was
useless for him to meet Chin Peng unless he was in a position to
make reasonable concessions. The terms of the amnesty were
really no advance on the terms offered two years ago. He must have
a discretion to make a more reasonable offer, if the course of
negotiations required it. If he were given a reasonably free hand,
he could gain his objective and, once the emergency was at an end
he would be free to turn his attention to the rooting out of subver-
sive activities.

Lord Reading, in his memorandum to the Colonial Office,
reminded that the Tunku was set upon holding the meeting with
Chin Peng, which he compared in importance to those held at
Pyongyang, Korea, and if the Tunku was not given the latitude
that he wanted, it was fairly certain that he would refuse to pursue
the project at all and would then publicity lay the blame for the
continuance of the ‘‘emergency’’ upon the imperialistic obstinacy
of the British Government, alleging that they were unwilling to see
achieved a peace which might result in the speedy relaxation of their
grip on the country.

Lord Reading also pointed out that David Marshall disliked
and deeply distrusted the Tunku and was violently resentful at having
been led into trap as regards his own attendance at the proposed
meeting. He was still uncertain whether he would in the end
participate, if it took place, since he felt that, if he found himself
unable to go all the way with the Tunku, he would be branded as
no more than a ‘‘stooge’’ of the British and he would be seriously
weakened in his relations with his own people.

Lord Reading considered the Tunku ‘‘a very vain man’’ and
it might be that personal vanity was an element in the policy that
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he was pursuing. But the main impulse, in his view, seemed to come
from his desire to clear the ground of obstacles to the achievement
of independence in the very near future.

The Tunku’s new stance had indeed placed the Malayan
Government in a dilemma. In his telegram to the Colonial Secretary,
MacGillivray noted that the Federation were faced broadly with two
alternatives to insist either (a) that the meeting should be for the
sole purpose of explaining the terms of the amnesty, or (b) to agree
that the Chief Minister should hear what Chin Peng had to say and
to discuss points with him but not to commit the British in any way
to agreement on any point.>’

MacGillivray was of the opinion that if the Federal authorities
insisted that the meeting should be for the sole purpose of explain-
ing the terms of the amnesty there was a real risk that the Alliance
would use their ‘‘secret weapons’’ of resignation from Councils at
all levels and thus represented to the public that the British had refus-
ed to allow the Tunku to meet Chin Peng even to hear what he had
to say. It was therefore clear that the British did not want to end
the emergency, but deliberately wished to keep it alive inorder to
deny independence to Malaya. There would then be a strong anti-
British campaign by UMNO with consequential diminution of
support given the British in the prosecution of the emergency by
the public and possible loss of morale in the police and Malay
regiment.

However, if the British Government agreed with alternative (b),
MacGillivray argued that it might be that the British would not be
able to agree with the Tunku and that he would resign. The Tunku
could then represent to the public that he could have brought
emergency to an end on terms acceptable to the public but that the
British had frustrated a reasonable solution.

However, before any decision was taken, MacGillivray asked
his Senior Advisers, consisting of the Chief Secretary, Attorney-
General, Chief of Police and Director of Intelligence, to assess the
implication of the alternative courses.’® The Senior Advisers, in
their report, recommended that the meeting should be allowed to
proceed and the Government must not make any stand on the issue.
However, every attempt should be made to confine the discussions
within the terms of the Declaration of amnesty. If they were unable
to persuade the Chief Minister to confine himself to a clarification
of the amnesty terms, the Tunku should instead be permitted to
listen to and discuss points raised by the Communists in addition

to the clarification of the amnesty terms. The attention of the Chief
Minister should be drawn to the importance of confining any discus-



Tunku Abdul Rahman - Chin Peng Amnesty Talks 189

sion to seeking clarification and explanation of the Communist point
of view without indicating his own opinion of committing himself
in any way. The British authorities also should not insist on the
inclusion of a British Official at the talks. The Chief Minister should,
however, be encouraged to take a senior Chinese Minister to the
meeting. If, on the return of the Chief Minister from such a meeting
agreement could not be reached between him and the High Com-
missioner on any fundamental point raised at the meeting, the High
Commissioner could then make a stand.

On 24 October, 1955, MacGillivray submitted the conclusion
of the Senior Advisers’ report to the Colonial Secretary for his con-
sideration and sought his permission to allow the meeting to take
place and that the British Government should not make a stand on
an issue on which public opinion would not be on their side.*
MacGillivray was convinced that it might be impossible to dissuade
Tunku Abdul Rahman from his intention to have discussions with
Chin Peng at his forthcoming meeting. If an attempt was made to
impose unacceptable conditions on the Chief Minister for his meeting
with Chin Peng, he might resign and thus place himself in the
position of being able to accuse the British Government of obstruc-
ting a course of action which could be represented as opening up
a prospect of bringing an emergency to an end. He felt very strongly
that the consequences of such a breach at that time would greatly
weaken the British position in Malaya. Moreover, that breach would
be likely to lead to dissension in the ranks of the Alliance itself and
the emergence of Malay/Chinese antagonisms, to an extent that
would jeopardise the chances of establishing a united Malaya under
a strong democratic government. Such a government was the only

answer, in the long run, to Communist penetration. MacGillivray
argued that:

We feel that far our best bet is a strong Alliance Government working in
harmony with us and that the chance of this would be lost if the Alliance leaders
should get it into their heeds that we do not wish the Emergency to end and that
we are using the Emergency as an excuse to delay self-Government. Our firm
opinion is therefore that the meeting must be allowed to take place and that we
should not now make a stand on an issue on which public opinion would not be
on our side.*°

Another way to stiffen the Tunku for the meeting would be for the
British Government to make it clear by a public statement that the
end of the shooting war was not regarded as a necessary condition
precedent to the grant of self-government in Malaya.*' He pointed
out that the Chief Minister and other members of the Alliance Party
believed that the British Government would not allow any further
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progress towards self-government while the emergency lasted. Tunku
was determined to achieve very early self-government and Alliance
leaders as a whole genuinely believed that if they did they would
be submerged by extremists.

Malcolm MacDonald, the Commissioner-General, also agreed
with MacGillivray that the Tunku should be allowed to hold talks
with Chin Peng but the Tunku must be warned in writing that Her
Majesty’s Government fully reserved the right to reject proposals
going beyond the terms of the amnesty offer.* The Tunku should
be warned against the dangers of allowing the terrorists to figure
as heroes after an amnesty and against the dangers of subversion
for both Malaya and Singapore. The High Commissioner should
also explain to the Tunku orally, as a personal view, that he would
no doubt have to listen to whatever the Communists have to say
but that he should be careful to avoid committing himself even to
a promise to consider a Communist proposal, though he was at liber-
ty to reject outright. MacDonald also believed that it might be of
decisive value if the Colonial Secretary should be able to assure the
Chief Minister that further progress towards self-government did
not depend upon the ending of the shooting war. Sir R. Black, the
Governor of Singapore was also of similar opinion.* However, he
added that if the meeting led to discussion of points outside the
amnesty terms, the Chief Ministers must return to discuss with the
High Commissioner, Commissioner-General and himself as Gover-
nor of Singapore.

On 28 October, the Colonial Policy Committee at the Colonial
Office discussed at length the proposed meeting between the Chief
Minister and Chin Peng. The Committee advised the Secretary of
State, A. Lennox-Boyd, to approve the suggestion made by the High
Commissioner to allow the Tunku to hold a meeting with Chin Peng.
However, it noted that every effort must be made by the High Com-
missioner to persuade the Tunku to confine himself to explanation
and clarification of the terms of the amnesty and that it should be
pointed out that within those terms of reference there was still con-
siderable room for manoeuvre and discussion.* If, despite this
explanation, the Tunku still insisted that he must be prepared to
listen to what Chin Peng had to say and to hold discussions with
him, he should be allowed to do so. It should, however, be made
clear to him that the High Commissioner’s consent to the talks had
been given on the definite understanding that he was not going to
the meeting as a plenipotentiary with a power to agree to anything
on behalf of the-Federation Government but must confine himself
to bring them back for further discussion with the High Commis-
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sioner and the Executive Council. The Tunku should be told that
the British Government was not prepared to accept any concession
on vital issues such as recognition of the Communist Party or the
release of “hard-core” Communists to undertake subversive activities
in the Federation. The Tunku should also be warned about the
danger of allowing the terrorists to figure as heroes after an amnesty
and about the danger of subversion for both Malaya and Singapore.
The Committee also agreed with the High Commissioner that it
would not be advisable for a senior British official to be present
at the talks. The Tunku would be no doubt had to be careful to
avoid committing himself even to a promise to consider a Com-
munist proposal. He was, however, at liberty to reject outright their
demands.

MacGillivray was informed about the Colonial Policy Com-
mittee’s recommendation by the Colonial Secretary on the 29th
October 1955.% Regarding the High Commissioner’s suggestion
that it might help to stiffen Tunku if he were to make a public state-
ment in Parliament to the effect that the British Government no
longer regarded the shooting war as an obstacle on the road to self-
government, the Colonial Secretary feared that a statement in those
terms if made in Parliament would be misunderstood and interpreted
as a retreat from the position previously held. If it would help,
however, in briefing the Tunku for the meeting with Chin Peng,
MacGillivray might say that he had been informed by him that,
although the shooting war was not yet ended, internal security con-
ditions had improved to such a degree that the British Government
no longer regarded them as an obstacle to further progress on the
road to independence. He also was prepared to send the Tunku a
personal message timed to reached him shortly before the meeting.

On 1 November 1955, MacGillivray discussed with the
members of the Executive Council on the nature and scope of
meeting with Chin Peng.* MacGillivray explained that there was
a considerable field for discussion within the limits of the amnesty.
But he warned the Tunku that the discussions with Chin Peng on
other matters, such as the repeal of the Emergency Regulations,
might amount to their acknowledgement that Chin Peng had a right
to a voice in policy-making and would raise the meeting to the level
of negotiations on equal terms.

The Tunku reiterated his intention of doing no more than listen-
ing to what Chin Peng had to say. He would then report back to
the High Commissioner. The Tunku also expressed his apprecia-
tion of the importance of not allowing the Communists to appear
in the guise of victors but thought that this could be achieved by
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insisting that all who surrendered should be held for investigation
‘““even if this was only for 3 days’’. Other Ministers said little on
the subject of meeting the with Chin Peng itself, probably for fear
of expressing views which might not coincide with those of the Chief
Minister. But Dr. Ismail, Minister of Land and Mines, emphasized
the importance that the Alliance and the people attached to the
ending the Emergency at the earliest possible moment. He also
brought out the point that the sense of urgency was increased by
the fact that the British Government had made the ending of the
Emergency a condition of the grant of self to government. Ong Yoke
Lin, Minister of Transport, went so far as to say that the effect
of this condition on many people’s minds was to make them feel
that Chin Peng hold the key to the situation. Ismail said that he
thought the British Government should then take the initiative by
indicating that further progress towards self-government was not
dependent upon the prior termination of the Emergency

In view of the discussion in the Executive Council, MacGillivray
urged the Secretary of State to issue a public statement that the
emergency did not stand in the way of self-government.*’ With
regard to the two written communications which were suggested
earlier by the Secretary of State that should be made to the Chief
Minister, MacGillivray feared that to put all these points to him
in writing would create an atmosphere of distrust and would have
the reverse of the effect desire. It might impel the Tunku to
go beyond the limits set simply in order to avoid being called a
"British stooge"”. The best arrangement might be for him, with the
Director of Operations present, to have a final discussion with him
just before he goes to the meeting.

MEETING WITH CHEN TIEN

The Tunku appeared to be impatient over the lack of response
from the Communists to the amnesty offer and over the delay in holding
the proposed high level talks with the Communist leaders. On his
arrival from Kuala Lumpur from his visit to Indonesia, Tunku
Abdul Rahman was questioned by the press about the further
measures he would take in arranging discussions with Chin Peng.
The Tunku replied that the he hoped there would be a letter from
the Communist awaiting him in his office. There was, in fact, no
such letter. On 15 November, the Tunku announced, in a
broadcast over the radio, that he was not prepared to wait indefinite-
ly for Chin Peng to respond to his invitation and that he was bound
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to infer from the delay a lack of sincerity on the part of the Com-
munists to bring about an end to the hostilities.

Two days later, on the 17th November, Chen Tien, M.C.P.’s
Head for Propaganda, and his guide turned up unannounced at
Klian Intan in North Perak. *® His appearance was interpreted by
the public as a direct response to the Tunku’s warning. Represen-
tatives of the press, who had been hanging about for weeks, were
the first to meet them. Speaking in fluent English, Chen Tien
denounced the amnesty offer as "unreasonable, impracticable and entirel y
unacceptable’.*” He then handed to the press a statement by Chin Peng
in Chinese to the effect that the "masses" were hoping for peace talks at
an early date and that, in spite of the activities of a "few influential
warmongers and militant people" there was 'no reason to doubt the
possibility of holding peace talks and reaching a reasonable agreement".
Chin Peng, Chan Tien declared, demanded three conditions for the
meeting: first, he wanted concrete assurances for the pesonal safety of
Communist delegate, secondly he wanted an agenda prepared, thirdly, he
demanded that an International Peace Commission should be invited to
supervise any peace agreement which might result from the meeting.
Chen Tien then posted a registered letter to the Tunku.

The Tunku’s first instinct was to authorise his two represen-
tatives to make immediate arrangements for a meeting between
himself and Chin Peng about 9 December.’® The High
Commissioner, however, reminded the Tunku that the Chief
Minister of Singapore was also concerned, and after telephoning
to Marshall, Tunku Abdul Rahman agreed that the meeting with
Chin Peng should not take place until after Marshall’s return from
London since Marshall was unwilling to put off his visit to London
in order to meet Chin Peng. MacGillivray also pointed out that Chin
Peng’s statement mounted to an outright rejection of the amnesty
terms and a renewal of the proposal to negotiate on an equal basis.
In view of this statement, MacGillivray advised the Tunku not to
make arrangements for a meeting with Chin Peng which might make
the public to conclude that the Government had accepted Chin
Peng’s rejection of the amnesty terms and his proposal for negotia-
tions. The Tunku saw the force of the High Commissioner’s argu-
ment and instructed Too Joon Hing and I.S. Wylie to make no
arrangements with Chen Tien for a meeting between himself and
Chin Peng but to inform Chen Tien that the purpose of such a

meeting would be to explain the amnesty terms and not to enter
into negotiations.
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On 18 November, Too Joon Hing and I.S. Wylie met Chen
Tien, who reiterated some of the points about arrangements for
the meeting with Chin Peng which he raised at their first encounter
in October.”! There was some discussion but no decision reached,
and it was agreed that there should be a further encounter between
the two sides on the 13th or the 16th December.

In a press statement issued on November 19, the Tunku
announced that Too Joon Hing and I.S. Wylie had discussed with
Chen Tien administrative arrangements for the meeting with Chin
Peng.’® He also warned Chin Peng in a forceful terms that, if Chin
Peng or his representatives ever again issue statements to the press,
and indulge in propaganda tactics, he would refuse to meet Chen
Ping or anyone else. He went on to say:

I am not going to negotiate with or treat Chin Peng as my equal; I am going
to explain the amnesty. I will listen if he proposes something to me, and I will
consider it. I represent the Malayan Government, and we have all the resources
to fight and beat the Communists. I want peace and I want to end this Emergency.

I will end the Emergency in any case, but I don’t want any more bloodshed if
I can help it.>?

In view of the ineffectiveness of the amnesty, the High
Commissioner advised the Tunku to terminate the amnesty offer.
In some localities, MacGillivray pointed out that the (M.C.P) had been
taking the advantage of the amnesty "safe areas" to make contacts
and to replenish supplies. This attitude and a Communist attack
in force on a new village in the Cameron Highlands led Govern-
ment to the decision that more forceful action against the Com-
munists was necessary. On 21 November, a joint statement was
issued by the Chief Minister and the Director of Operations declaring
that, although surrenders would still be accepted under the amnes-
ty, the restrictions which had placed on Security Forces action upon
the declaration of the amnesty would be lifted and all the safe areas
notified under the Amnesty would be cancelled from 1 December
1955.

Meanwhile, on 30 November, the High Commissioner, in his
address to the Legislative Council, announced that Her Majesty’s
Government saw no reason to regard the continuance of the
Emergency at its present level as an obstacle in the Federation’s
advance towards self-government.> MacGillivray believed that the
announcement had been very well-received and would be valuable
in stiffening public opinion against negotiations. In fact, the Tunku,
in reply to an oral question in the Legislative Council, declared that
his meeting with Chin Peng"will be neither negotiations nor peace talks".
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The Tunku reiterated his stand in the Legislative Council debate on 3
December 1955 that:

There would be no negotiations for peace as some people apparently believed.
It was only after the offer had been made to explain the amnesty terms that some
people had voiced the opinion that the Alliance Government should further
negotiate peace. If we do so, it would be an admission of defeat by the Alliance
Government should further negotiate peace. If we do so, it would be an admis-
sion of defeat by the Alliance Government and admission that the policy of the
Communist Party is right. We are not prepared to admit that the Alliance Govern-
ment had never been in a stronger position than it was today. Our armed forces
are carrying the fight into deep jungle. It was, however, the wish of the Alliance
Government that there should be no further loss of life or suffering and that is

the reason why we are now making an all-out bid to stop further bloodshed by
peaceful means.>>

In view of the Tunku’s stiffening stand against negotiations,
MacGillivray decided not to write a personal message to him that
his consent to his being allowed to listen to Chin Peng was given
on certain definite understandings fearing that it would create an
atmosphere of mistrust and would have the reverse of the effect
desired. What he would propose to do was to see the Tunku before
he left for the meeting, handed him the letter from the Secretary
of State and to wish him good luck.

On 13 December, Chen Tien reappeared at Klian Intan and
met the two Government representatives.’® The meeting took place
in a tent on Kroh airstrip, which had been gazetted as a Protected
Place for the purpose. The meeting lasted for three hours. The two
sides discussed arrangements for the main meeting between the Chief
Ministers and Chin Peng. The Government spokesmen proposed
that the meeting should be held on the 28th December at Baling
in Kedah. There should be a local ceasefire and that the Security
Forces in the area should remain inactive. Chen Tien eventually
agreed to all those proposals, subject to confirmation by Chin Peng.
He referred again to the desirability of preparing an agenda, but
was told that the Chief Ministers merely intended to clarity the terms
of the Amnesty and listen to what Chin Peng had to say. He was
told that the Tunku expected to receive a letter from Chin Peng,
confirming that he would meet the Chief Ministers at the time and
place proposed. Wylie, however, made it clear to Chen Tien that
if Chin Peng did not turn up for a meeting on the 28th of December
under the agreed arrangements, then the Amnesty would be ter-

minated, and there would be no further question of a meeting and
talks.
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BALING TALKS

The talks took place in the Government English School at Baling
on December 28th. It lasted more than eight hours, and was spread
over two days. The M.C.P. was represented by Chin Peng, the
Secretary-General, Rashid Maidin and Chen Tian, head of the
M.C.P’s Central Propaganda Department .On the other side were
three elected national representatives, Tunku Abdul Rahman, Dato
Tan Cheng-Lock and David Marshall.

In his opening remarks, Tunku Abdul Rahman thanked the
Commumsts for the confidence they had shown in coming out to
the meeting.”” He reminded that his task was to explain the amnes-
ty terms but not to stand in judgement over them. He then detailed
the political changes which had been taking place in Malaya and
explained that his election victory was based on the promise that
“colonialism must end and that this country must be given freedom?.
He then mentioned the High Commissioner’s announcement in the
Legislative Counsil on 30 November that the British Government
no longer considered ‘‘the continuation of the Emergency’’ as ‘‘an
obstacle to the Federation’s advance to self-government’’. The
British Government intended to enter the London talks in January
‘‘on that understanding”’. Since then the UMNO Assembly had pass-
ed a very important resolution to the effect that independence for
Malaya must be given by the 31 August 1957.

The Tunku then explained to Chin Peng that the objective
of his Party was to bring peace to the country. But, in his his
opinion, there would be no way of bringing about peace other than
to offer suitable amnesty terms for the surrender of the Communists.
The Tunku reiterated that if the Communists accepted the amnes-
ty “everyone would be pardoned”. The Tunku then explained the
amnesty terms in full . However, he added that the Government
had carried out its part of the terms with regard to local ceasefire,
but unfortunately the Communists on their part had continued
offensive action. As a result, ceasefire arrangements had been
suspended by the Government, although the Security Forces would
be on alert to help those who wished to accept the amnesty offer.
He understood that they had rejected those amnesty terms and would
like to know the reason. The Tunku also reminded Chin Peng that
he did not come at the meeting as the spokesman for the British
Goverment "neither as the stooge or running dog of colonialism'" but as
the servant of the people.

Chin Peng replied that it was because he realised that the Tunku
were not ‘‘the spokesman of the British Government or the runn-
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ing dog of the British Government’’ that they were prepared to meet
them at the risks of their lives. Chin Peng explained that he had
not come to the meeting to argue questions of ideology but to search
for peace ‘‘so that the misery of the people can be reduced’’. Chin
Peng pointed out that the M.C.P. rejected the amnesty offer because
they did not permit Communists to ‘‘enjoy equal status so that they
genuinely intended to be loyal to the Government would be ‘helped
to regain their normal position in society’’. Chin Peng then reflected
the past statement by the Tunku that if the M.C.P. stopped the armed
struggle, then they could enjoy status so that they could fight for
independence by constitutional means. But the amnesty terms did
not contain such a point.

To this the Tunku retorted that the amnesty specifically declared
that Communists who gave up communism and showed that they
genuninely intended to be loyal to the government would be ““helped
to regain their normal position in society". First, however, the
Communists would have to show their loyalty to Malaya. In his view,
simply to be anti-British was not sufficient to show that one was
loyal to Malaya. The Tunku pointed out that the Malayan people
regarded the Communist activities as something entirely foreign to
the Malayan way of life. They regarded the Communist Party as
belonging to a power outside the country and considered that its
members gave allegiance to that foreign country and not Malaya.

During the second session, the discussion revolved on the ques-
tion of loyalty to Malaya and recognition of the Malayan Com-
munist Party. Chin Peng asked the Tunku to explain the actual
meaning of ‘‘loyalty to Malaya’’ The Tunku stated that one of the
things the Malayan people expected was that the Communists should
give up their Communist activities. Loyalty to Malaya would
include acceptance of the position of the Rulers and agreement to
uphold their dignity. Dato Sir Tan Cheng-Lock added that if a man
wanted to live in Malaya, he should assume the responsibilities and
duties of a good citizen. David Marshall defined loyalty as "loyalty
to the government of the day, and loyalty to the constitutional
processes in bringing about such changes for the welfare of the
people”.

The talk then turned on the question of the recognition of the
Malayan Communist Party. Chin Peng asked the Tunku whether
the giving up of Communist activities meant the dissolution of the
Malayan Communist Party. The Tunku answered in affirmation.
Chen Ping stressed the point that, as a member of the Malayan Com-
munist Party, they were not prepared to be forced by others to give
up that ideology, but wished to put their ideology to the people to
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decide, if that was possible. The Tunku retorted that if the Malayan
Communist Party was allowed to take part in free election, the
people would choose the Alliance. The Tunku continued that the
Communist and Malayan ideologies were not the same. The Malayan
people preferred their own way of life, and the Communists must
accept the way of life accepted by the majority. Chin Peng admit-
ted that during the last few years political progress had been made
in Malaya and it was because of that he believed that the time had
come when the Communists should came to the meeting with sinceri-
ty in the hope that they could solve their problems. However, he
reiterated that he could not accept the amnesty conditions as they
were then, because those conditions required them to dissolve the
Malayan Communist Party. When asked by Chin Peng on what
other means the emergency could be ended, the Tunku replied that
Chin Peng and the members of the Malayan Communist Party must

give up their communist activities and prove themselves loyal to
the country.

Chin Peng did not give up. He did not see why since they were
Communists they could ‘‘declare to the people that we are Com-
munists. We do not wish to join other political parties and then
do our scheming or intrigues. That is why we want this question
of recognition of the M.C.P. to be solved?’.

Then Tunku said that he was not asking Communists to give
their ideology - "one's ideology is what one believes in" - but their
activities were something quite different.

The Tunku reiterated that the Federal Government was not
prepared to recognise the Malayan Communist Party because Com-
munist activities had been associated with murder, with atrocities,
with acts of violence of every kind. Furthermore, the Malayan Com-
munist Party was composed of very few nationals. Chin Peng then
took the point whether the difference was because most of the
members of the Malayan Communist Party in Malaya were Chinese.
David Marshall replied that as far as Singapore was concerned that
had nothing to do with it. The point was that the Communists were
exercising violence. The Tunku added that in Malaya the situation
was different because the Malays felt that the Communists owned
their allegiance to Communist China.

Chin Peng put one more question before another adjournment.
Was it necessary for any decisions made at the meeting to be
approved by the British Government? The Tunku replied: “If I
decide and Mr. Marshall agrees with me that will be all’’.

The next session started at 6.30 p.m. and lasted until 8.05 p.m.
Chin Peng returned with fresh vigour to the question of recogni-
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tion of his party. One of several gambits turned on the question
of whether his party would be accepted if its members were con-
fined to federal citizens "No," answered Tunku.

The talks turned to others aspects, such as the detention of
surrendered terrorists for purposes of interrogation and investiga-
tion. The Tunku explained that investigation would be carried out
very speedily. ‘“We want to extract a promise from you that you
will not carry on your activities; which we say are not loyal to Malaya
and are prejudicial to the interests of Malaya and Malayans. We
will want you to sign a declaration to that effect’’.

Chin Peng refused to accept this, declaring that for the ‘“dignity
of man’’ if this principle was insisted upon, then they would have
to carry on with the struggle. This brought a question from
Marshall, ‘“Forgive me asking, but what are you struggling for?”’
Chin Peng solemnly replied, ‘‘It is very simple to just for the dignity
of man.’’ Marshall exclaimed that using deed of violence to enforce
their views on a population that does want them was hardly com-
patible with the dignity of man. Chin Peng admitted that their
outlook on this question was quite different and he was prepared
to argue on it.

It was at this point that the talks really broke down. Chin Peng
came back time and again to the points on which the Communists
insisted: recognition of the M.C.P., no detention, no investigation
and no restriction on their movements after surrender. The Tunku
made it clear that after investigations and the removal of restric-
tion on freedom those Communists who remained in Malaya could
join recognized political parties and to take part in politics, but they
would not be allowed to form a Communist Party under another
name. At the end of the session, Marshall pleaded with them to
try and consider the question soberly and to remember that there
must be some sacrifice on their part. The Chief Ministers inform-
ed Chin Peng that they would be prepared to meet again on
the following morning.

The delegations met again at 10.30 the next morning, but from
the very beginning Chin Peng resolutely rode his cardinal theme
of political recognition of his party and freedom for members. For
Chin Peng, the purpose of investigation implied surrender and was
unacceptable. He considered it as humiliation: ‘‘If you demand our
surrender we would prefer to fight to the last man’’. The Tunku
replied that some surrender was inevitable. ‘“...if you do not come
out to surrender, we would rather not accept you in our society.
If you want to have peace in this country, one side must give in
to either we give in to you or you give in to us’’. The Tunku stress-
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ed that he was not prepared to allow a situation where Malaya might
be divided as had happened in the case of Korea and Vietnam.
Malaya was too small and he had, therefore, to be frank with them
and say that it was they who must surrender. The Chief Ministers,
before leaving, then appealed to Chin Peng to think of the general
welfare of the people and informed them that if, in the near future,
the Communists were prepared to show any change of attitude, they
would not consider their pride in coming to meet them again. Within
an hour, Chin Peng and his colleagues were whirled back to Klian
Intan. The next day he joined his bodyguard and disappeared in
the direction of South Thailand.

Following the talks, the Tunku decided to withdraw the amnesty
on 8 February 1956, five months after it had been offered.
He stated that he would not be willing to meet the Communists again
unless they indicated beforehand their desire to see him with a view
to making ‘‘a complete surrender’’. He said that the Communists
had made it clear to him that their ideology and that of himself
and his party could not exist side by side. Therefore, the war must
be intensified until one or the other gave in. He concluded: “‘It is
certain that I will not give in and betray the Malayan people. So
the Malayan Communist Party must give in... I have every con-
fidence that the people of Malaya will give their fullest support and
co-operation to the action I have taken".>®

Despite the failure of the Baling talks, the M.C.P. made every
efforts to resume a resumption of peace talks with the Malayan
Government but was to no avail. A few weeks after the Baling talks,
Tan Siew Sin received a letter from Chen Tien, requesting a
resumption of peace talks and the repeal of the Emergency Regula-
tions. This request was immediately rejected by the Chief Minister
and, instead, discussions began in the new Emergency Operations
Council to intensify the ‘People’s War’ against the guerillas. In July
1957, a few weeks away from independence, the M.C.P. made a
desperate attempt for peace talks. The M.C.P. had suggested the
following conditions for a negotiated peace; its members should
be given privileges enjoyed by citizens: they should have freedom to
participated in elections and stand as candidates; and there should be a
guarantee that political as well as armed members of the M.C.P. would
not be punished. The Tunku,however, did not respond to the M.C.P.'s
proposal.

With the achievement of independence on 31 August 1957 there
was a marked increase in the M.C.P.’s peace proposals and in
November 1957, after a direct proposal from Chin Peng, Tunku
Abdul Rahman agreed to a preliminary meeting. The border town
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of Kroh was chosen as a site for possible talks. However, Chin Peng,
did not accept the principle of surrender. As a result, the talks fail-
ed to take place. Since then the M.C.P. strength began to decline.
The Malayan Government increased its military activities to
suppress the M.C.P. and by 1960 they were forced to retire to the
border with its dwindling strength. By 1960 also Malayan Govern-
ment declared the end of the Emergency.

NOTES

"Extract from Political Monthly Report (P.M.R.), 4/1952.

2l'v‘.[acGillivray to the Secretary of State for the Colonies, 25 October 1955,
D1091/72, FO371/116941.

3Ma[ay Mail, 6 January 1955
*Ibid, 9 January 1955.

> Federation of Malaya to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 19 January
1955, CO1030/22.

®Federation of Malaya: Detention, Deportation and Rehabilitation Policy in

High Commissioner to Secretary of State for Colonies, 25 May 1955. FO371/
116939.

TFederation of Malaya to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 13 January
1955, CO1022/22.

8 Ibid.

®Federation of Malaya to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 19 January
1955, CO1020/22.

IOFederation of Malaya to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 17
January 1955, CO1030/22.

”Manchester Guardian, 9 February 1955.

IZSce, The Road to Independence, An Alliance Platform for the Federal Elections,
Alliance National Council Kuala Lumpur, 1955.

13Malaya : Negotiation offer by the Malayan Communist Terrorist, Commonwealth
Relations office, 22 July 1955, FO371/116940.

1See, Captured Malayan Communist Party Documents, Southeast Asia Depart-
ment, Foreign Office, 27 November 1953, FZ1016/9/G, CO1030/22.

15Anthony Short, The Communist Insurrection in Malaya, 1948-1960,
Frederick Miller Limited, London, 1975. p. 459.

18 1bid.

o Malaya: Negotiation Offer by the Malayan Comminist Terrorist. Common—
wealth Relations Office, 22 July 1955. FO371/116940.

mMonthly Political Reports for May 1955, CO1030/245.

P The Question of Offering an Amnesty to the Communists in Malaya, FED
12/360/05, FO371/116940.



202 Jebat 18

20Malcolm MacDonald to Foreign Office, 21 August 1955, FO371/116939.

2lgxtract from COS (55) 617 Meeting held on 26 July 1955 on Malaya,
FO371/116940.

*27ainal Abidin b. Abd. Wahid (Peny)., Sejarah Malaysia Sepintas Lalu,
Dewan Bahasa dan Pustaka, Kuala Lumpur, 1972. p. 172.

23MacGillivray to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 19 August 1955,
DS91/45, FO371/116941.

24M.'alc:Dt:mald to Foreign Office, 21 May 1955, DS1091/42D, FO371/116940.

25MaCGilliVI‘ay to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 19 August 1955,
D1091/45E, FO371/116940.

26 1bid.

27See, Appendix A in Memorandum from the Chief Minister and Minister
Jor Internal and Security, No. 386/17/56, 30 April 1956. CO1030/30.

28 Ibid.

29High Commissioner, Malaya to The Secretary of State for the Colonies,
10 October 1955, C0O1020/245.

30MacGillivray to the Secretary of State for the Colonies, 29 September 1955,
DS1091/60, FO371/116941.

31l’\/la(:Grillivray to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 30 September
1955, DS1091/60A, FO371/116941.

32Mat::(?xillivray to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 30 September
1955, DS1091/60B, FO371/116941.

BMALAYA: Monthly Emergency and Political Report 15th October to 15th
November 1955. FED 111/161/01, CO 1030/247.

34 1bid.

3SSingapore to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 17 October 1955,
DS1091/41, FO371/116941.

3MacGillivray to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 20 October 1955,
D1091/67G, FO371/116941.

3 Ibid.

3¥MacGillivray to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 24 October 1955,
D1091/69A, FO371/116941.

3% bid.
©rpid.

41MacGillivray to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 25 October 1955,
D1091/72, FO371/116941.

42C0mmissioner-General for the U.K. in Southeast Asia to the Secretary of
State for the Colonies, 23 October 1955, CO1030/27.

“3sir R. Black to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 29 October 1955,
D1091/75, FO371/116941.

“The Secretary of State for the Colonies to High Commissioner, Malaya,
29 October 1955, D1091/76, FO371/116941.



Tunku Abdul Rahman - Chin Peng Amnesty Talks 203

B rvid.

46l\e‘I.au:(‘:illivray to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 8 November 1955,
D1091/80, FO371/116941.

YT Ibid.

48I\/Iac:(.‘rillivray to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 18 November
1955, D1091/83D, FO371/116941.

49Mala),.'a: Monthly Emergency and Political Report, 15th November to 15th
December 1955, FED 111/161/01. CO1030/247.

50I\/Irac(‘rillivray to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 18 November
1955, D1091/83D, FO371/116941.

SIMalaya: Monthly Political Report for November, 1955 in High Commis-
sioner, Malaya to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 8 November 1955,
CO 1030/245.

52l\dalaya: Emergency and Political Report 15th November to 15th December
1955, FED 111/161/01. CO1030/247.

33 Ibid.
**MacGillivray to Sir John Martin (CO), 1 December 1955, CO1030/27.
o

Ibid.

56Malaya: monthly Emergency and Political Report 15th November to 15th
December 1955, FED 11/161/01. CO 1030/247.

" The Baling Meeting: Verbatim Record of the Baling, Talks taken from tape
Recording, CO 1030/31.

SSMacGiIlivray to The Secretary of State for the Colonies, 15 March 1956,
C01030/22.



	175
	176
	177
	178
	179
	180
	181
	182
	183
	184
	185
	186
	187
	188
	189
	190
	191
	192
	193
	194
	195
	196
	197
	198
	199
	200
	201
	202
	203

